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Consolidated Management Report 

Management of JAB Holding Company S.à r.l. (the "Company" or the “JAB Group”) hereby pre-
sents its consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended on 31 December 2018. 

General information 

JAB Holding Company is a privately held group focused on long-term investments in companies 
with premium brands, attractive growth and strong cash flow.  

The investments are overseen by two managing partners: Peter Harf and Olivier Goudet, together 
with 8 other partners. JAB Holding Company is assessed to be an Investment Entity in accordance 
with IFRS 10.27 and is required to apply the exception to consolidate and instead accounts for its 
investments in a subsidiary at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

Investments 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group’s portfolio includes participations in Acorn Holdings B.V., 
Pret Panera Holding Company Group (through Pret Panera I G.P. and Pret Panera III G.P.), 
Krispy Kreme Group (through KK G.P.), Coty Inc., Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. and JAB Luxury 
GmbH. 

In December 2018, JAB Group reorganised its former shareholdings in Beech I G.P. and the in-
vestments indirectly held through Beech I G.P. and Acorn Holdings B.V.: 

- Beech I G.P. was renamed to Pret Panera I G.P. and a new interim holding company Pret 
Panera III G.P. was established. 

- The indirect investment in Peet’s Coffee Group (formerly held through Beech I G.P.) was 
distributed to JAB Group and subsequently contributed to Acorn Holdings B.V.  

- The indirect investment in Krispy Kreme Group (formerly held through Beech I G.P.) was 
distributed to an entity of JAB Group and subsequently contributed to the newly established 
interim holding company KK G.P. 

- The investment in JAB Coffee Holding B.V. / Espresso House Group was contributed to 
Pret Panera Holding Company Group. 

- In September 2018, JAB Group made an investment in Pret A Manger Group. The invest-
ment was contributed to Pret Panera Holding Company Group in December 2018. 

Acorn Holdings B.V. is the holding company of Keurig Dr Pepper Group (KDP), a leading producer 
and distributor of hot and cold beverages, Jacobs Douwe Egberts Group (JDE), a global leader in 
Coffee, and Peet’s Coffee Group, a leading premium retail coffee brand in the US. In July 2018, 
the merger between Keurig Green Mountain Inc. (KGM) and Dr Pepper Snapple Group Inc. was 
completed, creating KDP. For the closing, JAB Group has made a capital contribution to Acorn 
Holdings B.V. amounting to €2,877.8m. As of 31 December 2018, the investment was valued at 
€15,047.4m. The value of the shares increased by €1,962.6m. In 2018, JAB Group received a cap-
ital repayment of €91.3m from Acorn Holdings B.V., sold shares for an amount of €70.9m and ac-
quired shares for an amount of €0.4m. 
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Pret Panera I G.P. (formerly: Beech I G.P.) and Pret Panera III G.P. are the holding companies of 
Pret Panera Holding Company Group and its investments in leading bakery coffee companies, 
Pret A Manger Group and Panera Group, and in premium retail coffee brands, Caribou Coffee 
Group and Espresso House Group. As of 31 December 2018, the investment was valued at 
€3,353.8m. The value of the shares increased by €670.5m and JAB Group received total dividend 
income of €37.8m. In 2018, JAB Group made capital contributions to Beech I G.P. in the amount of 
€7.7m (2017: €1,450.0) and acquired further shares in Beech I G.P. for an amount of €228.7m. to 
Beech I G.P. In 2018, JAB Group made a capital contribution of €253.0m for the acquisition of Pret 
A Manger Group. 

KK G.P. is the holding company of the leading international premium retailer of sweet treats, 
Krispy Kreme Group. As of 31 December 2018, the investment was valued at €654.8m. The value 
of the shares decreased by €6.0m and JAB Group received total dividend income of €6.9m.  

Coty Inc. is a global leader in the world of beauty. Coty Inc. is listed on the New York Stock Ex-
change. As of 31 December 2018, the investment was valued at €1,724.0m. In 2018, the value of 
the shares decreased by €3,180.1m and JAB Group received dividend income of €125.3m. In 
2018, JAB Group acquired further 14.9 million shares in Coty for an amount of €160.7m.  

Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. is a global leader in household and healthcare products. Reckitt 
Benckiser Group Plc. is listed on the London Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2018, the in-
vestment was valued at €336.1m. In 2018, the value of the shares decreased by €322.0m and 
JAB Group received dividend income of €56.3m. In 2018, JAB Group sold 30.9 million shares for 
€2,145.5m (2017: 21.2m shares, €1,601.9m). 

JAB Luxury GmbH is the holding company of the luxury goods company Bally. As of 31 Decem-
ber 2018, the investment was valued at €404.7m. The value of the shares decreased by €10.7m. 
JAB Group has the intention to dispose of its investment in JAB Luxury GmbH and therefore clas-
sified the shares as assets held-for-sale. 

The following describes the valuation techniques used to value the private investments of 
JAB Group: 

Acorn Holdings B.V. 

JAB Group holds 57.0% of Acorn Holdings B.V. Acorn Holdings B.V. is direct shareholder of fur-
ther interim holding companies and their investments in KDP, JDE and Peet’s Coffee Group. 

As of 31 December 2017, Acorn Holdings B.V. was the direct shareholder of further interim holding 
companies and their investments in KGM and JDE. In July 2018, the merger between Acorn Hold-
ing B.V.’s investment in KGM and Dr Pepper Snapple Group Inc. was completed, creating KDP. In 
December 2018, the investment in Peet’s Coffee Group (formerly held through Beech I G.P.) was 
contributed to Acorn Holdings B.V.  

Acorn Holding B.V.’s investments were valued as follows: 

- As of 31 December 2018, KDP is a listed company (New York Stock Exchange). The 
shares in KDP were valued based on the quoted market price at the reporting date.  
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- As of 31 December 2017, KGM fair value was calculated applying multiples that were de-
rived from selected publicly listed companies with 50% EBITDA and 50% P/E multiple 
weighting. The following LTM multiples were used for the 2017 valuation of KGM: EBITDA 
multiple of 15.2x and P/E multiple of 23.8x.  

- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, JDE fair value was calculated applying 
multiples that were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 50% EBITDA and 
50% P/E multiple weighting. The following LTM multiples were used for the valuation of 
JDE: EBITDA multiple of 14.0x (2017: 15.2x) and P/E multiple of 20.9x (2017: 23.8x).  

- For further information, we also include the related next twelve months (NTM) multiples for 
the same peer group of selected publicly listed companies for JDE: EBITDA multiple of 
13.8x (2017: 13.8x) and P/E multiple of 19.1x (2017: 21.5x). 

- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, Peet’s Coffee Group’s fair value was 
calculated applying multiples that were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 
40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% Sales multiple weighting. The following LTM multiples 
were used for the valuation of Peet’s Coffee Group: EBITDA multiple of 15.7x (2017: 
16.8x), P/E multiple of 24.6x (2017: 28.3x) and Sales multiple of 3.3x (2017: 4.0x). Peet’s 
Coffee Group was held through Beech I G.P. as of 31 December 2017. 

- For further information, we also include the related next twelve months (NTM) multiples for 
the same peer group of selected publicly listed companies for Peet’s Coffee Group: 
EBITDA multiple of 14.2x (2017: 15.4x), P/E multiple of 22.4x (2017: 24.3x) and Sales mul-
tiple of 3.1x (2017: 3.5x). 

- The multiples applied to the LTM figures ending December 2018 and 2017 are the median 
of the LTM multiples of these comparable publicly listed companies. In addition, adjust-
ments between the enterprise value and the equity value were made for financial debt, and, 
where relevant, for minorities and financial assets. 

Pret Panera I G.P. and Pret Panera III G.P. 

JAB Group is invested in Pret Panera Holding Company Group through a 53.5% investment in 
Pret Panera I G.P. and a 15.4% investment in Pret Panera III G.P. Pret Panera Holding Company 
Group is the direct shareholder of further interim holding companies and their investments in Pret 
A Manger Group, Panera Group, Caribou Coffee Group and Espresso House Group. 

As of 31 December 2018, the shares in Pret Panera I G.P. and Pret Panera III G.P. were valued at 
€3,353.8m. Pret Panera I G.P.’s and Pret Panera III G.P.’s fair value was calculated as the net 
asset value of their different investments. These investments were valued as follows: 

- The investment in Pret A Manger Group occurred in the second half of 2018. As of 31 De-
cember 2018, management assessed the original acquisition cost to be the best fair value 
estimate.  

- As of 31 December 2018, Panera Group’s fair value were calculated applying multiples that 
were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% 
Sales multiple weighting. The investment in Panera Group occurred in the second half of 
2017. As of 31 December 2017, management assessed the original acquisition cost to be 
the best fair value estimate.  

- For Panera Group the following LTM multiples were used for the valuation: EBITDA multi-
ple of 17.3x, P/E multiple of 25.0x and Sales multiple of 2.9x.  
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- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, Caribou Coffee Group’s and Espresso 
House Group’s fair value were calculated applying multiples that were derived from select-
ed publicly listed companies with 40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% Sales multiple 
weighting.  

- For further information, we also include the related next twelve months (NTM) multiples for 
the same peer group of selected publicly listed companies for Panera: EBITDA multiple of 
16.3x, P/E multiple of 23.7x and Sales multiple of 2.7x. 

- For Caribou Coffee Group the following LTM multiples were used for the valuation: EBITDA 
multiple of 16.1x (2017: 15.8x), P/E multiple of 25.0x (2017: 28.1x) and Sales multiple of 
1.8x (2017: 1.5x).  

- For further information, we also include the related next twelve months (NTM) multiples for 
the same peer group of selected publicly listed companies for Caribou: EBITDA multiple of 
15.6x (2017: 14.1x), P/E multiple of 23.2x (2017: 23.9x) and Sales multiple of 1.6x (2017: 
1.3x). 

- For Espresso House Group the following LTM multiples were used for the valuation: 
EBITDA multiple of 17.8x (2017: 16.3x), P/E multiple of 25.5x (2017: 25.5x) and Sales mul-
tiple of 2.5x (2017: 2.5x). Espresso House Group was held through JAB Coffee Holding 
B.V. as of 31 December 2017. 

- For further information, we also include the related next twelve months (NTM) multiples for 
the same peer group of selected publicly listed companies for Espresso House: EBITDA 
multiple of 16.8x (2017: 13.8x), P/E multiple of 22.9x (2017: 20.2x) and Sales multiple of 
2.2x (2017: 2.3x). 

- The multiples applied to the LTM figures ending December 2018 and 2017 are the median 
of the LTM multiples of the peer group consisting of comparable publicly listed companies. 
In addition, adjustments between the enterprise value and the equity value were made for 
financial debt, and, where relevant, for minorities and financial assets. 

KK G.P. 

JAB Group is invested in Krispy Kreme Group through a 48.8% investment in KK G.P.  

As of 31 December 2018, the shares in KK G.P. were valued at €654.8m. KK G.P.’s investment 
was valued as follows: 

- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, Krispy Kreme Group’s fair value were 
calculated applying multiples that were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 
40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% Sales multiple weighting.  

- The following LTM multiples were used for the valuation of Krispy Kreme Group’s: EBITDA 
multiple of 16.9x (2017: 16.7x), P/E multiple of 24.4x (2017: 28.3x) and Sales multiple of 
3.2x (2017: 3.2x). Krispy Kreme Group was held through Beech I G.P. as of 31 December 
2017. 

- For further information, we also include the related next twelve months (NTM) multiples for 
the same peer group of selected publicly listed companies: EBITDA multiple of 16.3x 
(2017: 15.4x), P/E multiple of 22.4x (2017: 24.3x) and Sales multiple of 3.1x (2017: 3.1x). 

- The multiples applied to the LTM figures ending December 2018 and 2017 are the median 
of the LTM multiples of the peer group consisting of comparable publicly listed companies. 
In addition, adjustments between the enterprise value and the equity value were made for 
financial debt, and, where relevant, for minorities and financial assets. 
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JAB Luxury GmbH 

JAB Group is the sole owner of JAB Luxury GmbH, Switzerland. This entity is a shareholder of the 
luxury goods company Bally International AG (Bally). JAB Group has the intention to dispose of its 
investment in Labelux Group GmbH and therefore classified the shares as assets held for sale. 

As of 31 December 2018, the shares in JAB Luxury GmbH, Switzerland were valued at €404.7m.  

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the investment’s fair value was based on the 
value per share of an at-arms’ length transaction in Bally International AG shares in February 
2018. 

Corporate debt securities Acorn Holdings B.V.  

JAB Group holds preferred shares in Acorn Holdings B.V. 

As of 31 December 2018, the preferred shares were valued at €852.2m. 

The management assessed the original acquisition cost of the preferred shares to be the best fair 
value estimate.  

Financing 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group’s capital comprises 8,888,582 Class A shares, 
767,184 Class B shares and 1,407,023 Class S shares. Class B shares and Class S shares are 
redeemable under certain conditions that are out of JAB Group’s control and therefore classified 
as liabilities. The redeemable shares are carried at the redemption amount of €1,926.9m 
(2017: €1,493.0m).  

JAB Group operates share option schemes for members of the Advisory Committee as well as 
members of the management team and executives and senior managers of the Company and its 
affiliates with a carrying amount of €399.9m as of 31 December 2018 (2017: €540.9m). The 
change in the carrying amount is mainly due to the change in the number of outstanding options in 
2018. Options were exercised for new shares or settled in cash.  

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group has borrowings of in total €5,952.1m (2017: €4,460.0m). The 
outstanding amount in the current period consists of long-term notes with a carrying value of 
€5,952.1m (2017: €4,460.0m). Thereof, long-term notes with an aggregate principal amount of 
€1,500.0m were issued in 2018.  

The cash flows from financing activities during 2018 include contributions by the shareholders 
(€150.0m; 2017: €0.0m), share premium repayments to the shareholders (€-90.3m; 2017: 
€-61.0m), capital repayments on redeemable shares (€-70.3m; 2017: €-31.1m), proceeds from 
issue of shares (€7.8m; 2017: €289.2m), financial expenses paid (€-119.1m; 2017: €-197.8m) and 
the net change in borrowings (€1,493.2m; 2017: €727.8m).  

In 2018, JAB Group’s equity decreased from €16,149.1m to €15,255.9m, mainly due to a decrease 
in the value of JAB Group’s investment portfolio.  
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Financial information 

The result for the year 2018 amounts to €-852.2m, mainly relating to the net loss on subsidiaries 
and other investments (€-883.0m), dividends received (€271.6m), finance income (€178.9m), in-
terest expense (€-127.6m), expenses from the revaluation of redeemable shares (€-57.9m) and 
expense from the share-option scheme (€-200.6m).  

Information regarding financial instruments and principal risks 

The objective of JAB Group’s management is to limit the foreign exchange risk on its transactions. 
As a result, JAB Group enters into forward exchange contracts as necessary.  

JAB Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly relates to its cash and cash equivalents. The credit risk 
on cash transactions is mitigated by transacting with counterparties that are financial institutions 
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 

JAB Group's exposure to liquidity risk is limited, in view of unused amounts under its credit facili-
ties and cash available at year-end.  

JAB Group is exposed to market risk as a result of its investments and subsidiaries. This exposure 
is not hedged.  

JAB Group entered into interest swap agreements, which do not qualify for hedge accounting, to 
reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on its floating rate long-term debt.  

The exposure of JAB Group to these risks is described in note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements in detail.  

Other disclosures 

Due to the activities of JAB Holding Company S.à r.l. disclosures for R&D, social aspects and code 
of conduct are not relevant. The parent JAB Holding Company S.à r.l. has no branches. 

Future developments and outlook 

JAB Group will continue to serve under its business purpose as an investing and financing compa-
ny. Its liquidity situation is sound and expected to remain well in the next years. 

In February 2019, JAB Group announced commencement of a partial tender offer to acquire up to 
150m additional shares of Coty Inc. Class A common stock at a price per share of $11.65 in cash. 
The offer is subject to certain conditions, including that the independent directors of Coty Inc. ap-
prove the offer and recommend that the Coty shareholders accept the offer. The new Coty shares 
would be held by a newly established subsidiary of JAB Group (Cottage Hold Co B.V.). JAB Group 
would contribute all existing Coty shares to this entity. The acquisition of new shares is expected to 
be financed by bank facilities at Cottage Hold Co B.V. with no cash contribution or recourse of 
JAB Group. 
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In February 2019, it was announced that JAB Group together with JAB Consumer Fund will ac-
quire Compassion-First Pet Hospitals, a family of well-known and respected specialty, emergency 
and general practice veterinary hospitals across the United States, based on a total enterprise 
valuation of approximately $1.2bn. The total equity contribution required to consummate the trans-
action will be finally allocated to JAB Group, JAB Consumer Fund, other investors and standalone 
debt. JAB Group is expected to make an equity contribution of not more than €0.3bn. 

 
Luxembourg, 11 March 2019 

Managing Directors: 
 
 
 
 

M. Hopmann 

 
 
 
 

J. Creus  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

note in €m in €m
ASSETS

Subsidiaries 3.1 19,061.0 13,198.3

Other investments 3.2 2,095.0 7,559.7

Corporate debt securities 3.3 852.2 852.2

Loans 3.4 34.0 54.2

Other assets 3.5 13.7 15.3

Short-term financial investments 3.6 82.3 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents 3.7 1,094.6 674.7

Non-current assets held-for-sale 3.8 404.7 389.8

Total assets 23,637.5 22,744.2

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity 3.9 15,255.9 16,149.1

Attributable to owners of the parent 15,255.9 16,149.1

Borrowings 3.12 5,952.1 4,460.0

Redeemable shares 3.10 1,926.9 1,493.0

Other liabilities 3.11, 3.13 502.6 642.1

Total liabilities 8,381.6 6,595.1

Total equity and liabilities 23,637.5 22,744.2



JAB Holding Company S.à r.l., Luxembourg 

 

14 
 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the 
year ended 31 December 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2018 2017
note in €m in €m

3.15 -883.0 832.9

Dividend income 3.16 271.6 277.2

Finance income 3.17 178.9 6.2

Finance expenses 3.17 -173.8 -377.9

General and administrative expenses 3.18 -245.6 -629.8

Result before tax -851.9 108.6

Taxes on income 3.19 -0.3 -1.1

Result for the period -852.2 107.5

   Attributable to owners of the parent -852.2 107.5

Items that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit and loss

   Currency translation differences -100.7 230.3

Other comprehensive income -100.7 230.3

Total comprehensive result -952.9 337.8

   Attributable to owners of the parent -952.9 337.8

Net gain / (loss) on subsidiaries, other investments 
and short-term financial investments
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total
equity

note in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Balance as of 31 December 2016 6.6 7,655.7 -279.2 8,489.2 15,872.3

Repayment of share premium 3.9.1 0.0 -61.0 0.0 0.0 -61.0

Total income and expense
recognised directly in equity 0.0 0.0 230.3 0.0 230.3
Result for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 107.5 107.5

Total comprehensive result 0.0 0.0 230.3 107.5 337.8

Balance as of 31 December 2017 6.6 7,594.7 -48.9 8,596.6 16,149.1

Issue of share capital 3.9.1 0.1 149.9 0.0 0.0 150.0
Repayment of share premium 3.9.1 0.0 -90.3 0.0 0.0 -90.3

Total income and expense
recognised directly in equity 0.0 0.0 -100.7 0.0 -100.7
Result for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 -852.2 -852.2

Total comprehensive result 0.0 0.0 -100.7 -852.2 -952.9

Balance as of 31 December 2018 6.7 7,654.3 -149.6 7,744.4 15,255.9
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 17 to 63 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2018 2017

note in €m in €m

Cash flows from operating activities

Result before tax -851.9 108.6

Finance expenses 3.17 173.8 377.9

3.15 883.0 -832.9

3.1-3.2, 3.6 -3,589.2 -2,680.4

3.1-3.2, 3.6 2,303.8 1,756.7

Capital repayments from subsidiaries 3.1 0.0 782.7

Adjustment for share-based payment transactions 194.4 241.9

Other adjustment -3.0 0.0

Changes in other assets and liabilities from operating activities

   (Net increase) / decrease in loans 3.4 -68.6 15.8

   (Net increase) / decrease in other assets 3.5 1.8 5.2

   Net increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 3.13 4.8 -0.4

Income taxes paid and withholding taxes 3.19 0.0 -7.2

Net cash from / (used in) operating activities -951.1 -232.1

Cash flows from financing activities

Contribution owners of the parent 150.0 0.0

Repayment of share premium to owners of the parent 3.9.1 -90.3 -61.0

Changes in borrowings 3.12 1,493.2 727.8

Financial expenses paid -119.1 -197.8

Proceeds from issue of redeemable shares 3.10 7.8 289.2

Capital repayments on redeemable shares 3.10 -70.3 -31.1

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities 1,371.3 727.1

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3.7 674.7 180.8

Net cash from / (used in) operating activities -951.2 -232.2

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities 1,371.3 727.1

-0.3 -1.0

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3.7 1,094.5 674.7

Net (gain) / loss from change in fair value of subsidiaries, 
other investments and short-term financial investments
Payments on acquisition of subsidiaries, other investments
and short-term financial investments
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, other investments 
and short-term financial investments

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash
and cash equivalents
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. General information 

JAB Holding Company S.à r.l. (the "Company") is a company domiciled in Luxembourg. The ad-
dress of the Company's registered office is 4, Rue Jean Monnet, L-2180 Luxembourg. The Com-
pany’s object is to act as a holding company and therefore the acquisition of participations. The 
Company is focused on generating superior returns from long-term investments in companies with 
premium brands and strong growth and margin dynamics.  

The Company is formed for an unlimited period. As of 31 December 2018, the Company’s  
main shareholder is Agnaten SE, which is domiciled in Rooseveltplatz 4-5, 1090 Vienna, Austria.  

The Company is an entity that obtains funds from investors for the purpose of providing those in-
vestors – directly or indirectly through subsidiaries (together the “JAB Group”) – with investment 
management services. The funds are invested for returns from capital appreciation and investment 
income. JAB Group measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments 
on a fair value basis. The Company therefore is assessed by the board to be an Investment Entity 
in accordance with IFRS 10.27 and is required to apply the exception to consolidation and instead 
accounts for its investments in a subsidiary at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  

JAB Group holds a number of strategic investments in controlled and non-controlled entities with 
the purpose to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment income, or both. 
As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group is invested in the following significant subsidiaries and other 
investments: 

- Coty Inc., USA 
- Acorn Holdings B.V., Netherlands 
- Pret Panera I G.P. (formerly: Beech I G.P.), USA 
- Pret Panera III G.P., USA 
- KK G.P., USA 
- Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc., UK  
- JAB Luxury GmbH, Switzerland 

Only subsidiaries providing services that relate to the investment entity’s investment activities are 
consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10.32. Consequently, the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company incorporate the financial statements of the following companies that are not quali-
fied as an investment: JAB Investments S.à r.l., JAB Holdings B.V., JAB Cosmetics B.V., 
JAB Forest B.V. and Labelux Group GmbH.  
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2. Accounting policies 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union ("IFRS").  

This is the first set of JAB Group’s consolidated financial statements where IFRS 9 has been ap-
plied. Changes to significant accounting policies are described in note 2.16. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of managers on 
11 March 2019. 

2.2 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The consolidated financial statements prepared in conformity with IFRS require the management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that effect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these esti-
mates. 

Assessment as an investment entity 
The judgement refers to the classification of JAB Holding Company S.à r.l. as an investment entity 
according to IFRS 10. The management has concluded that the entity meets the definition of an 
investment entity as the following conditions exist: 

- The Company obtained funds from investors for the purpose of providing – directly or via 
subsidiaries - those investors with investment services. 

- The obtained funds are solely invested for returns from capital appreciation, investment in-
come, or both.  

- The performance of substantially all of its investments is measured and evaluated on a fair 
value basis. 

The management has also concluded that the Company meets the following additional character-
istics of an investment entity: it has more than one investment, it has more than one investor and 
the investments are predominantly in the form of equity or similar interests. One typical character-
istics of an investment entity is that the investors are not related parties. For JAB Group most in-
vestors are related parties. However, the management believes it is nevertheless an investment 
entity, because the majority of the investors is not actively involved in the investment process and 
it is ensured that there are no returns from investments that are other than capital appreciation or 
investment income. These conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis, if any of these crite-
ria or characteristics changed. 

Following the classification as an investment entity, management has made judgement with regard 
to the consolidation of JAB Group’s subsidiaries. Only subsidiaries providing services that relate to 
the investment entity’s investment activities are consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10.32. Man-
agement therefore assessed the functions and services provided by the subsidiaries and conclud-
ed on the scope of consolidation based on this assessment. 
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Other accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
Further key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation of uncertainty 
at the reporting date relate to the fair value determination of JAB Group’s investments and re-
deemable shares measured at redemption amount. Management uses its judgment in selecting 
appropriate valuation techniques.  

In order to estimate expenses and liability in connection with share-based payments adequate 
measurement methods have to be adopted and adequate parameters for those measurement 
methods have to be determined. Those parameters comprise expected life of options, volatility, 
dividend yield, risk-free interest rate and assumptions on time of exercise and fluctuation.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other 
factors, such as planning as well as expectations and forecasts of future events that are deemed 
to be reasonable. As a consequence of the uncertainty actual results may differ from the esti-
mates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to ac-
counting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision af-
fects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the going concern as-
sumption.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except for the valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial 
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss. 

2.3 Consolidation 

The Company is an investment entity in accordance with IFRS 10.27 and is required to apply the 
exception of consolidation and instead accounts for its investments in a subsidiary at FVTPL.  

Only subsidiaries providing services that relate to the investment entity’s investment activities  
are consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10.32. Consequently, the consolidated financial  
statements of JAB Group incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its intermediate 
holding companies controlled by the Company, but not its subsidiaries qualified as investments. 

The following subsidiaries are consolidated in JAB Group’s consolidated financial statements: 

Company registered shareholding in %

JAB Holding Company S.à r.l. Luxembourg parent company
JAB Investments S.à r.l Luxembourg 100.0%
JAB Holdings B.V. Netherlands 100.0%
JAB Cosmetics B.V. Netherlands 100.0%
JAB Forest B.V. Netherlands 100.0%
LABELUX Group GmbH Austria 100.0%
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The following subsidiaries are qualified as investments and therefore measured at fair value: 

Company registered shareholding in %

Acorn Holdings B.V. Netherlands 57.0%
Pret Panera I G.P. (formerly: Beech I G.P.) USA 53.5%
Pret Panera III G.P. USA 15.4%
KK G.P. USA 48.8%
JAB Luxury GmbH Switzerland 100.0%

 

The stated shareholding reflects the portion of shares held directly or indirectly by the Company in 
its consolidated and non-consolidated subsidiaries. It further reflects JAB Group’s voting power in 
these subsidiaries. The investments’ direct or indirect subsidiaries are included in the investments’ 
consolidated financial statements. 

Control is achieved when JAB Group has power over the consolidated entity, is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with a consolidated entity and has the ability to use 
its power to affect its returns. The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts 
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when JAB Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when JAB Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expense of 
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date JAB Group gains control until the date JAB Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary. 

When JAB Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an entity, JAB Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an entity, 
including the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the entity, rights arising from 
other contractual arrangements and JAB Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity 
holders of the parent of JAB Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with JAB Group’s ac-
counting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between members of JAB Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If JAB Group loses control over a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss. The parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if 
JAB Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

An associate is an entity over which JAB Group has significant influence, but no control over the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. Investments in associates are measured at 
FVTPL in accordance with IAS 28.18. 
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2.4 Foreign currency transactions 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro (€), which is different from JAB Hold-
ing Company S.à r.l.’s functional currency which is US-Dollar ($). The functional currency is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates. Each company within 
JAB Group determines its functional currency independently. The results and financial positions in 
the financial statements of each company are measured using the entity’s functional currency. The 
presentation currency Euro was determined with regard to JAB Group’s bank financing and notes 
that are denominated in Euro. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Foreign currency 
differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary financial assets and liabilities are – ex-
cept for those measured at fair value - presented in the result for the period under financial income 
or financial expense.  

The assets and liabilities are translated into JAB Group’s presentation currency, the Euro, using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period, income and expenses are translated 
using the average foreign exchange rate for the reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if 
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. At disposal of the 
foreign operation, foreign exchange differences are reclassified from other comprehensive income 
to profit or loss.  

Any amounts (including prior period) in these consolidated financial statements are shown in mil-
lions of Euro, unless otherwise stated. Amounts are commercially rounded, therefore rounding 
differences may appear.  

2.5 Determination of fair value 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an or-
derly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measure-
ment is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible for JAB Group.  

The most reliable evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. A market is regarded 
as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to 
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. For all other financial instruments not traded in an 
active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques, maximising 
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.  

Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length transactions, reference to the current mar-
ket value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and 
option pricing models making as much use of available and supportable market data as possible. 
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2.6 Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract giving rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another party. In accordance with IFRS 9, all financial assets and 
liabilities – which also include derivative financial instruments – have to be recognised in the 
statement of financial position and measured in accordance with their assigned categories. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group becomes a party to the con-
tractual provisions. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the invest-
ments have expired or JAB Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position if JAB Group has a legal right to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

JAB Group meets the definition of an investment entity according to IFRS 10 and is required not to 
consolidate its subsidiaries but instead to measure its subsidiaries at FVTPL and to measure sub-
stantially all of its other investments at fair value. Investment Entities do not need to measure its 
non-investment assets or its liabilities at fair value. 

JAB Group therefore classifies substantially all of its investments in equity and debt instruments 
and derivative instruments at FVTPL.  

Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity instruments and debt securi-
ties, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and 
other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at 
FVTPL, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative 
financial instruments are measured as described below. Purchases and sales of financial assets 
are accounted for at the settlement date.  

Accounting for finance income and expenses is discussed in note 2.10. 

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the Company’s business model 
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. A 
debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if the objective of the business model is to hold the 
financial asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows under 
the instrument solely represent payments of principal and interest. A debt instrument is measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) if the objective of the business model is 
to hold the financial asset both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell. All other debt instru-
ments must be recognised at FVTPL. An entity may however, at initial recognition, irrevocably des-
ignate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
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measurement or recognition inconsistency. Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL unless, for 
equity instruments not held for trading, an irrevocable option is taken to measure at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
The Company’s investments are managed on a fair value basis. The Company uses fair value in-
formation to assess the investment’s performance. The Company’s investments in equity securi-
ties and certain debt securities are classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Upon initial recognition, 
attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Financial assets at 
FVTPL are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.  

Financial assets at FVTPL that the Group acquires or incurs principally for the purpose of selling in 
the near-term or holds as part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or posi-
tion taking are presented in the statement of financial position as short-term financial investments. 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective in-
terest method, less any impairment losses. 

Loans and borrowings 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest method amorti-
sation process. 

Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables include liabilities for goods and services. After initial recognition, trade 
and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest amortisa-
tion is included as finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

Redeemable shares 
Different classes of the Company’s shares contain put features. The shares are redeemable under 
certain conditions that are out of the Company’s control. An obligation to purchase its own equity 
instruments gives rise to a financial liability. As such the shares are recognised as a liability. The 
redeemable shares are carried at amortised cost which corresponds to the redemption amount 
that would be payable at the reporting date if the holder would put the shares at this date. Changes 
in the measurement of that financial liability are recognised in profit or loss.  

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term investments in an active market with original maturities of three months and less, bank over-
drafts and money market funds with daily liquidity and all highly liquid financial instruments that 
mature within three months of being purchased. 
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Derivative financial instruments 

JAB Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its foreign currency and interest rate 
risk exposures, including exposures from forecast transactions.  

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value 
at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss imme-
diately. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial 
liabilities when the fair value is negative.  

In the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company did not designate derivates as hedging in-
struments and therefore did not apply hedge accounting. 

2.7 Impairment 

Financial assets 

According to IFRS 9, the Company recognises an allowance for expected credit loss (ECLs) for all 
financial assets not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash 
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are 
integral to the contractual terms.  

Cash and cash equivalents are subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. Cash and cash 
equivalents were placed with quality financial institutions and could be withdrawn on short notice. 
Therefore, the ECLs on cash and cash equivalents were immaterial, as well as the identified im-
pairment loss for the other financial assets subject to the expected credit loss model.  

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Company's non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and 
its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are dis-
counted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assess-
ments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of 
assets (the "cash-generating unit"). 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit ex-
ceeds its estimated recoverable amount 
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2.8 Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, JAB Group has a present legal or construc-
tive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic bene-
fits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the liability. 

2.9 Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that JAB Group's right to receive pay-
ment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. 

2.10 Finance income and finance expenses 

Finance income comprises interest income on loans and receivables and gains on hedging instru-
ments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or 
loss, using the effective interest method.  

Finance expenses comprise interest expenses on borrowings, bank fees, changes in the redemp-
tion amount of redeemable shares classified as liabilities and losses on hedging instruments that 
are recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effec-
tive interest method. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, for example, 
for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions, such as gains and losses from 
financial instruments at FVTPL. 

2.11 Corporate income tax 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in 
equity. 

Current tax liability is calculated in accordance with the tax regulations of the state of residence of 
the Company and its subsidiaries and is based on the income or loss reported under local ac-
counting regulations, adjusted for appropriate permanent and temporary differences from taxable 
income. Income taxes are calculated on an individual Company basis as the tax laws do not permit 
consolidated tax returns. 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of reali-
sation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or sub-
stantively enacted in the expected period of settlement of deferred tax. 
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A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

2.12 Share-based payment transactions 

Share-based payment transactions are recognised over the period in which the performance 
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. Equity-settled transactions are recognised in other capital 
reserves in equity, while cash-settled transactions are recognised as a liability, including transac-
tions with instruments that contain put features.  

JAB Group runs cash-settled transactions or transactions with shares that contain put features. 
The cumulative expense recognised for share-based payment transactions at each reporting date 
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and JAB Group’s 
best estimate of the number of instruments that will ultimately vest with recognition of a corre-
sponding liability. The liability is re-measured to fair value at each reporting date up to and includ-
ing the settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

2.13 Non-current assets held-for-sale 

Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale if they are available for immediate sale in their 
present condition subject only to the customary sales terms of such assets and their sale is con-
sidered highly probable. For a sale to be highly probable, management must be committed to a 
sales plan and actively looking for a buyer. Furthermore, the assets must be actively marketed at a 
reasonable sales price in relation to their current fair value and the sale should be expected to be 
completed within one year. Non-current assets which meet the criteria for held-for-sale classifica-
tion are presented separately from other assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

2.14 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

Assets and liabilities are presented in their broad range of liquidity, since this presentation provides 
reliable and more relevant information than separate current and non-current classifications. 

2.15 Preparation of the consolidated cash flow statement 

The consolidated cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method. Net cash flows from 
operating activities are reconciled from profit before tax from continuing operations. 

Changes in consolidated statement of financial position items that have not resulted in cash flows 
such as translation differences, fair value changes, contributions in kind, conversions of debt to 
equity etc. have been eliminated for the purpose of preparing this statement. 

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and other investments, payments on acquisition of subsidiaries 
and other investments, changes in loans and other assets, dividends, capital repayments from 
investees and interest received have been classified as cash flows from operating activities be-
cause the investment activities are JAB Group’s principal activities. 

Dividends paid, capital repayments to ordinary shareholders and interest paid are included in fi-
nancing activities.  
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2.16 Accounting policies and disclosures 

JAB Group applied the accounting policies set out above consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements.  

New and amended standards adopted by JAB Group 

A number of new standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) are 
effective for the first time for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2018. The 
adoption of the following standards had no significant impact on JAB Group’s consolidated finan-
cial statements. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects 
of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement: impairment; and 
hedge accounting. 

JAB Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, with the initial application date of 1 January 2018. 
As of the date of initial application, there was no significant impact since JAB Group already 
measured all its subsidiaries, non-current assets held-for-sale, other investments and corporate 
debt securities at FVTPL. Therefore, no reclassification has been necessary. 

Financial assets and liabilities 

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects 
the business model in which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics. IFRS 9 con-
tains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, 
FVOCI and FVTPL. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, 
loans and receivables and available for sale. 

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model. The new 
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt 
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses 
are recognised earlier than under IAS 39.  

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement.  

As of adoption of IFRS 9, JAB Group’s investment portfolio continues to be classified at FVTPL. 
Consequently, equity and debt investments measured at FVTPL under IAS 39 continue to be 
measured on the same basis under IFRS 9. 

Furthermore, the adoption of IFRS 9 has not had an effect on JAB Group’s accounting policies re-
lated to other financial assets and derivative financial instruments. The ‘expected credit loss’ model 
has not had an impact on JAB Group’s consolidated financial statements. As a result, the adoption 
of IFRS 9 has not had an effect on JAB Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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New standards and interpretations not yet adopted by JAB Group 

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2018, and 
earlier application is permitted. However, JAB Group has not early adopted the new or amended 
standards in preparing these condensed financial statements. None of these is expected to have a 
significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of JAB Group.  
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3. Notes to the Accounts 

3.1 Subsidiaries 

The following table gives an overview of material subsidiaries at year-end: 

2018 2017 Result for Equity Consolidated financial
the period statements as of

% % in m in m

Acorn Holdings B.V., Netherlands 57.0 57.3 €551 €13,263 31 December 2017 (IFRS)
Pret Panera I G.P. 
(formerly: Beech I G.P.), USA 53.5 56.4 $297 $6,915 31 December 2017 (US-GAAP)
Pret Panera III G.P., USA *) 15.4 0.0
KK G.P., USA *) 48.8 0.0
JAB Coffee Holding B.V., Netherlands 0.0 51.9 €1 €251 31 December 2017 (IFRS)

* As Pret Panera III G.P. and KK G.P. were founded in 2018, there were no consolidated financial statements available as
of issuance of JAB Holding Company S.à r.l.'s consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018.

 

The movements in subsidiaries can be detailed as follows: 

 Acorn  Pret  Pret  KK  JAB Pret  JAB  JAB  Others Total 
 Panera  Panera  G.P.  Beech Holding  Coffee  Luxury 

 B.V.  I G.P.  III G.P.  Inc. Com-  Holding  GmbH 

 B.V. 

in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Balance as of 
31 December 2016 8,629.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,147.9 0.0 149.4 771.0 0.0 11,697.2

Additions 0.0 1,460.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 14.8 1,475.5
Disposals -145.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -9.6 -155.0
Contributions 0.0 1,952.6 0.0 0.0 -1,952.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Change in fair value 1,236.2 -89.8 0.0 0.0 -195.3 0.0 0.8 40.0 -0.3 991.6
Reclassification
to non-current
assets held-for-sale 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -811.0 0.0 -811.0

Balance as of 
31 December 2017 9,719.8 3,323.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 150.2 0.0 4.8 13,198.3

Additions 2,878.2 236.4 93.0 0.0 0.0 160.0 27.1 0.0 0.0 3,394.7
Disposals -162.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -162.2
Reorganisation 648.9 -1,887.3 917.8 660.8 0.0 -162.2 -178.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Change in fair value 1,962.6 626.4 44.1 -6.0 0.0 2.2 0.7 0.0 0.2 2,630.2

Balance as of 
31 December 2018 15,047.4 2,299.0 1,054.8 654.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 19,061.0

 Holdings 

 pany Inc. 
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Reorganisation 

In December 2018, JAB Group reorganised its shareholdings in Beech I G.P., JAB Coffee Hold-
ing B.V. and the investments indirectly held through Beech I G.P. and Acorn Holdings B.V. 

Beech I G.P. was renamed to Pret Panera I G.P. and a new interim holding company Pret 
Panera III G.P. was established. JAB Group is invested in Pret Panera I G.P. and Pret Panera III 
G.P., which invest in return in Pret Panera Holding Company Group which is hereafter referred to 
aggregate as “Pret Panera Holding Company Group". 

The indirect investment in Peet’s Coffee Group (formerly held through Beech I G.P.) was distribut-
ed to JAB Group and subsequently contributed to Acorn Holdings B.V.  

The indirect investment in Krispy Kreme Group (formerly held through Beech I G.P.) was distribut-
ed to JAB Group and subsequently contributed to the newly established interim holding company 
KK G.P. 

The investment in JAB Coffee Holding B.V. was contributed to Pret Panera Holding Company 
Group. 

An investment in Pret A Manger Group (through Pret Holding Company Inc.) was made in Sep-
tember 2018. The investment was contributed to Pret Panera Holding Company Group in Decem-
ber 2018. 

Acorn Holdings B.V. 
Acorn Holdings B.V. is the direct shareholder of further interim holding companies and their in-
vestments in Keurig Dr Pepper Group (KDP), Jacobs Douwe Egberts Group (JDE) and Peet’s Cof-
fee Group. 

In 2018, JAB Group received capital repayments of €91.3m (2017: €30.7m) from Acorn Holdings 
B.V., sold shares for an amount of €70.9m (2017: €114.7m) and acquired further shares in Acorn 
Holdings B.V. for an amount of €0.4m.  

In July 2018, JAB Group made a capital contribution to Acorn Holdings B.V. amounting to 
€2,877.8m for the closing of the merger between Keurig Green Mountain Group (KGM) and Dr 
Pepper Snapple Group Inc. In December 2018, the investment in Peet’s Coffee Group was con-
tributed to Acorn Holdings B.V. for an amount of €648.9m. 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group holds approximately 57.0% in Acorn Holdings B.V. with a fair 
value of €15,047.4m (2017: €9,719.8m).  

Pret Panera I G.P. (formerly: Beech I G.P.) and Pret Panera III G.P. 
JAB Group is invested in Pret Panera Holding Company Group through the direct investments in 
Pret Panera I G.P. and Pret Panera III G.P. Pret Panera Holding Company Group is the direct 
shareholder of further interim holding companies and their investments in Pret A Manger Group, 
Panera Group, Caribou Coffee Group and Espresso House Group. 

In 2018, JAB Group made capital contributions to Beech I G.P. in the amount of €7.7m and  
acquired further shares in Beech I G.P. for an amount of €228.7m, prior to the reorganisation in 
December 2018.  
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In July 2017, JAB Group made a capital contribution in cash amounting to €1,450.0m to the newly 
established investment in Beech I G.P., which was subsequently been used by Beech I G.P. for 
their acquisition of Panera Bread Company.  

In 2017, JAB Group had granted a loan to Rye Parent Holding Corp. (a subsidiary of Beech I 
G.P.). A portion of the loan (€10.7m) was converted to Beech I G.P. equity (see also note 3.4). 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group holds approximately 53.5% in Pret Panera I G.P. 
(2017: 56.4%) with a fair value of €2,299.0m (2017: €3,323.5m) and approximately 15.4% in Pret 
Panera III G.P (2017: 0.0%) with a fair value of €1,054.8m (2017: €0.0m).  

KK G.P. 
JAB Group is invested in Krispy Kreme Group through the direct investment in KK G.P. 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group holds approximately 48.8% in KK G.P. (2017: 0.0%) with a 
fair value of €654.8m (2017: €0.0m).  

JAB Luxury GmbH 
JAB Luxury GmbH is the holding company of the luxury goods company Bally.  

As of 30 June 2017, the investment in JAB Luxury GmbH was reclassified to non-current assets 
held-for-sale due to the management’s intention to dispose of this investment (see note 3.8). 

All acquisitions were measured at fair value at the time of acquisition or contribution. After initial 
measurement all subsidiaries, investments in associates and other investments are subsequently 
measured at FVTPL. 

3.2 Other investments 

The following table gives an overview of other investments (including associates) at year-end: 

2018 2017 Result for Equity Consolidated financial
the period statements as of

% % in m in m

Coty Inc., USA 40.1 38.1 -$168.8 $8,855.2 30 June 2018 (US-GAAP)
Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc., UK 0.7 5.1 £6,189.0 £13,573.0 31 December 2017 (IFRS)
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The movements in other investments can be detailed as follows: 

 Coty Inc.  Reckitt  Others Total 
 Benckiser  

 Group Plc. 
in €m in €m in €m in €m

Balance as of 31 December 2016 4,709.4 4,556.9 19.0 9,285.3

Additions 225.4 33.2 0.0 258.6
Disposals 0.0 -1,601.9 0.0 -1,601.9
Change in fair value -191.4 -188.6 -2.3 -382.3

Balance as of 31 December 2017 4,743.4 2,799.6 16.7 7,559.7

Additions 160.7 0.0 17.2 177.9
Disposals 0.0 -2,141.5 0.0 -2,141.5
Change in fair value -3,180.1 -322.0 1.0 -3,501.1

Balance as of 31 December 2018 1,724.0 336.1 34.9 2,095.0

 

Coty Inc. 
JAB Group is a minority investor in Coty Inc. with a share of approximately 40.1% as of 
31 December 2018 (2017: 38.1%). As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group held 300,908,041 shares 
in Coty Inc. (2017: 286,008,041).  

As of 31 December 2018, the fair value of Coty Inc. amounts to €1,724.0m (2017: €4,743.4m) with 
a value per share of €5.73 ($6.56).  

14.9 million Coty Inc. shares were acquired in 2018 for €160.7m. 

Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. 
JAB Group is a minority investor in Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. with a share of approximately 
0.7% as of 31 December 2018 (2017: 5.1%). As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group held 5,000,000 
shares in Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. (2017: 35,900,000). In 2018, 30,900,000 shares were sold 
for an amount of €2,141.5m (2017: 21,189,342 shares; €1,601.9m). In 2017, 430,000 shares were 
contributed to JAB Group. 

As of 31 December 2018, the fair value of Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. amounts to €336.1m 
(2017: €2,799.6m) with a value per share of €67.22 (£60.13; 2017: €77.98; £69.19).  

All acquisitions were measured at fair value at the time of acquisition. After initial measurement all 
subsidiaries, investments in associates and other investments are subsequently measured at 
FVTPL. 
  



JAB Holding Company S.à r.l., Luxembourg 

 

33 
 

3.3 Corporate debt securities 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
in €m in €m

Acorn Holdings B.V. preferred shares 852.2 852.2

Total 852.2 852.2
 

In October and December 2017, the Company acquired perpetual preferred shares in Acorn Hold-
ings B.V. for an amount of €852.2m. These preferred shares are measured at FVTPL and have 
stated fixed interest rates of 6.0% to 6.5% (2017: 5.5% to 6.0%). 

3.4 Loans 

The movements in the loans were as follows: 

 JAB  JAB  Pret A  Rye  JAB Total 
 Holding  Manger Parent  Luxury 

  Company  Group  Holdings  GmbH 
 LLC  Corp. 

in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Balance as of 
31 December 2016 89.0 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 92.5

Additions 3.5 0.0 0.0 90.9 35.0 129.4
Disposals -31.2 0.0 0.0 -88.0 0.0 -119.2
Translation differences -10.3 -0.3 0.0 -2.9 0.0 -13.5
Reclassification to
non-current assets
held-for-sale 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -35.0 -35.0

Balance as of 
31 December 2017 51.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 54.2

Additions 2.4 0.1 106.9 0.0 0.0 109.4
Disposals -40.8 0.0 -91.3 0.0 0.0 -132.1
Translation differences 0.0 0.1 2.4 0.0 0.0 2.5

Balance as of 
31 December 2018 12.6 3.4 18.0 0.0 0.0 34.0

 Management 

 

The current portion of the loans amounts to €34.0m (2017: €54.2m). The non-current portion 
amounts to €0.0m (2017: €0.0m).  
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Receivables to JAB Management relate to loans, which were granted to JAB Management or per-
sonal holding companies of JAB Management in the course of a management participation plan of 
JAB Group. The additions to the loans in 2018 relate to new loans and to accrued interest relating 
to the outstanding loans. The disposals of €40.8m relate to repayments of loans in 2018. As of 
31 December 2018, short-term loans of $14.4m (€12.6m) (2017: €51.0) are outstanding, including 
loans to the Directors of the Company provided by JAB Holdings B.V. in the amount of €1.6m 
(2017: €4.5m). 

In 2018, JAB Group granted loans in the amount of $124.5m (€106.9m) to Pret A Manger Group. 
Subsequently, loans in the amount of $103.9m (€91.3m) were contributed to Pret Panera III G.P. 
together with accrued interest in the amount of €1.7m. As of 31 December 2018, a loan of €18.0m 
to Pret Parent Holding Inc. is outstanding (2017: €0.0m). 

From January to June 2017, JAB Group provided additional loans to JAB Luxury GmbH in the 
amount of €35.0m. In June 2017, the loans to JAB Luxury GmbH were classified as non-current 
assets held-for-sale due to the management’s intention to dispose of this investment. 

In 2017, JAB Group granted a short-term loan of €90.9m to Rye Parent Holdings Corp. (a subsidi-
ary of Beech I G.P.). The loan was repaid in the amount of €77.2m and contributed to Beech I G.P. 
equity in the amount of €10.7m (see also note 3.1). 

Interest rate for fixed rate receivables is 2.0% (2017: 2.0%). As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group 
has no floating rate receivables.  

3.5 Other assets 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
in €m in €m

Refund withholding tax 6.1 5.8
Prepayments 3.6 4.8
Accrued interest 1.1 0.2
JAB Holding Company LLC 0.0 1.6
Foreign exchange contracts 0.0 1.1
Other 2.9 1.8

Total 13.7 15.3
 

The prepayments relate to prepaid bank fees, which are amortised over the period of the terms of 
the underlying credit facilities or expensed at early termination of such facilities.  

Receivables to JAB Holding Company LLC as of 31 December 2017 mainly relate to a service 
agreement with JAB Holding Company LLC.  

The other receivables are short-term.  
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3.6 Short-term financial investments 

The movements in short-term financial investments can be detailed as follows: 

in €m

Balance as of 31 December 2017 0.0

Additions 83.8
Disposals -0.1
Change in fair value -1.4

Balance as of 31 December 2018 82.3
 

Short-term financial instruments relate to corporate debt securities of Coty Inc. (bonds and term 
loan B). 

Short-term financial instruments are measured at FVTPL. 

3.7 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2018, include bank deposits and liquidity funds 
available on demand (€869.6m; 2017: €574.7m) and deposits with maturity in February 2019 
(€200.0m) and April 2019 (€25.0m) (2017: €100.0m with maturity January 2018). 
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3.8 Non-current assets held-for-sale 

JAB Group is 100% shareholder in JAB Luxury GmbH. 

In June 2017, management committed to a plan to dispose of its investment in JAB Luxury GmbH 
and classified the investment in JAB Luxury GmbH as held-for-sale.  

As of 31 December 2018, the non-current assets held-for-sale comprised assets of €404.7m 
(2017: €389.8m) and detailed as follows: 

 JAB Luxury Total 
 GmbH

in €m in €m

Balance as of 31 December 2016 0.0 0.0

Reclassification to non-current 
assets held-for-sale 811.0 811.0
Additions 138.2 138.2
Disposals -783.1 -783.1
Change in fair value 223.7 223.7

Balance as of 31 December 2017 389.8 389.8

Additions 25.6 25.6
Change in fair value -10.7 -10.7

Balance as of 31 December 2018 404.7 404.7
 

3.9 Shareholder's equity 

3.9.1 Share capital and share premium 

As of 31 December 2018, the Company’s share capital and share premium recognised in equity 
consist of 8,888,582 Class A shares with a total nominal value of $8.9m (€6.7m, 2017: $8.8m, 
€6.6m) and a share premium of $9,899.1m (€7,654.3m; 2017: $9,836.2m, €7,594.7m).  

At year-end issued capital comprises:  

Nominal Nominal
Number Value Number Value

in $m in $m

Ordinary Class A shares 8,888,582 8.9 8,800,200 8.8
Ordinary Class B shares 767,184 0.8 596,142 0.6
Special Class S shares 1,407,023 1.4 1,173,554 1.2

Issued share capital 11,062,789 11.1 10,569,896 10.6

31 December 201731 December 2018
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Each share has a nominal value of $1.0.  

Class A Shares are recognised as equity, Class B shares and Class S shares are redeemable 
under certain conditions that are out of the Company’s control. The redeemable shares have been 
classified as liabilities (see note 3.10).  

In 2018, 88,382 Class A shares were issued with a nominal value of $0,1m (€0.1m) and a share 
premium in the amount of $173.6m (€149.9m). No Class A shares were issued in 2017. 

In 2018, no dividend was paid to the Class A shareholders (2017: $0.0). Capital repayments out of 
the share premium in the amount of $110.7m (€90.3m; 2017: $65.1m, €61.0m) were made to 
shareholders of Class A shares. 

In respect of the current year, the directors propose no dividend and to carry forward the retained 
earnings. This proposal is subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting. 

3.9.2 Translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all currency differences arising from the translation of financial 
statements of operations into JAB Group’s presentation currency, the EURO. 

3.10 Redeemable shares 

Different classes of the Company’s shares contain put features. The shares are redeemable under 
certain conditions that are out of the Company’s control. As such the shares are recognised as 
liability. 

The redeemable shares are carried at the redemption amount that would be payable as of the re-
porting date if the holders would put the shares at this date.  

The redemption amount is determined based on valuation rules that have been contractually 
agreed with the shareholders. As of 31 December 2018, the redemption amount is calculated on 
the basis of the Company’s direct and indirect investments.  

The redeemable shares are carried at €1,926.9m (2017: €1,493.0m), including shares held by the 
management in the amount of €1,790.9m (2017: €1,367.1m).  

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, all shares are redeemable in short-term, if spe-
cific criteria are met and presented as current liabilities (€1,926.9m; 2017: €1,493.0m).  

The right to put the shares will be suspended if the redemption would lead to a default under the 
financing agreements of JAB Holdings B.V. 
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The following table illustrates the movements in the redeemable shares in 2018: 

Class B shares Class S shares
Number Nominal Number Nominal Carrying Carrying

value value amount amount
in $k in $k in $m in €m

In issue as of 31 December 2016 399,028 399 698,135 698 854.0 810.2

Issued for cash 171,968 172 495,767 496 331.3
Issued for consideration in kind 19,731 20 39.2
Exercise of share options 52,110 52 400,000 400 869.2
Redeemed to the Company -46,695 -47 -420,348 -420 -495.2
Capital repayment/distributions -3.6
Change in redemption amount 195.7

In issue as of 31 December 2017 596,142 596 1,173,554 1,174 1,790.6 1,493.0

Issued for cash 2,066 2 249,113 249 10.7
Exercise of share options 385,890 386 0 0 816.5
Redeemed to the Company -216,914 -217 -15,645 -16 -464.9
Capital repayment/distributions -16.2
Change in redemption amount 69.6

In issue as of 31 December 2018 767,184 767 1,407,022 1,407 2,206.3 1,926.9

SpecialOrdinary

 

2,066 (2017: 171,968) Class B shares were issued for cash in 2018. Thereof, 328 (2017: 169,956) 
shares relate to new investments following the exercise of options. No Class B shares were issued 
for consideration in kind (2017: 19,731). 

The average issue price (for one ordinary share or five special shares) was $2,115 (€1,847; 2017: 
$1,921, €1,602). 

In 2018, no dividend was paid to Class B and special Class S shareholders out of retained earn-
ings (2017: €0.0). Capital repayments to these shareholders in the amount of $16.2m (€13.7m) 
were made in 2018 (2017: $4.0m, €3.5m). 
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3.11 Share-based payments 

The Company has share purchase agreements with the members of the Advisory Committee as 
well as with members of its management team and executives and senior managers of the Com-
pany and its affiliates. The shares contain put features to sell shares back to the Company for 
cash. As such the shares are recorded as a liability at potential redemption amount (see  
note 3.10). The expense recognised arising from share-purchase agreements during the year was 
$1.2m (€1.0m; 2017: $3.1m, €2.7m).  

Further, the Company has share option schemes for the members of the Advisory Committee as 
well as members of its management team and executives and senior managers of the Company 
and its affiliates. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their 
expiry. The exercise of an option will be suspended if the redemption would lead to a default under 
the financing agreements of the indirect subsidiary JAB Holdings B.V.  

All options related to share-based compensation plans were granted at the redemption amount of 
the underlying shares at the grant date (see note 3.10). 

The options are settled in cash by payment of the net value of the option. The net value is deter-
mined by the amount, if any, by which the per share value at the exercise date exceeds the strike 
price. Alternatively, the holder of the option – at the grant of the option – may waive the right for 
cash settlement. In case of such a waiver the option will be settled either by payment of the strike 
price in cash for the issue of the corresponding new shares or in a cashless way by the issue of 
new shares with a combined value which is equal to the net value of the options that have been 
exercised. The Company’s share-based compensation plans are accounted for as liability as they 
either allow for cash settlement or in case of non-cash-settlement contain put features to sell 
shares back to the Company for cash. The options are time vesting (5 years) without performance 
restrictions and have a graded vesting or a cliff vesting with the compensation expense recognised 
during the vesting period. 
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Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following vesting conditions and contrac-
tual life: 
 
Options 
granted 

Vesting Conditions 
 

Contractual Life 
of Options 

Number of Options  
31 December 2018 

Number of Options  
31 December 2017 

2012 Graded vesting over vesting 
period of 5 service years 
(annual instalments) from 
grant date 

10 years 0 360,000 

2013 Graded vesting over vesting 
period of 5 service years 
(annual instalments) from 
grant date 

10 years 37,000 40,000 

2013 Vesting after 5 years’ service 
from grant date 

10 years 15,000 52,890 

2014 Vesting after 5 years’ service 
from grant date 

10 years 8,918 18,774 

2015 Vesting after 5 years’ service 
from grant date 

10 years 9,495 9,495 

2016 Vesting after 5 years’ service 
from grant date 

10 years 2,808 2,808 

2017 Graded vesting over vesting 
period of 5 service years 
(annual instalments) from 
grant date 

10 years 839,144 839,144 

2017 Vesting after 5 years’ service 
from grant date 

10 years 132,731 257,731 

2018 Graded vesting over vesting 
period of 5 service years 
(annual instalments) from 
grant date 

10 years 192,038 0 

2018 Vesting after 5 years’ service 
from grant date 

10 years 97,740 0 

Total number of options  1,334,874 1,580,842 

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model. This model takes into account the characteristics of the plan such as the ex-
ercise price and exercise period, and market data at the grant date such as the risk-free rate, 
share price (redemption amount), volatility, expected dividends and behavioural assumptions re-
garding beneficiaries. The expected life of the options is based on management’s assumptions 
and is below the contractual life. After 31 December 2016, all holders of options granted in or be-
fore the year 2015 have contractually committed to exercise these options immediately when vest-
ed, subject to further conditions being met.  

The expected volatility is based on a peer group analysis using historical information, which may 
not necessarily reflect the actual outcome.  
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The share-option schemes are denominated in $. The following table lists the weighted average 
inputs for the measurement of the fair values at grant date for the share option granted during the 
year and the inputs used for the measurement of the fair values of the outstanding share options at 
the end of the year ended 31 December 2018:  
 

 

Grant date 
2018 

Measurement 
date 

31 Dec. 2018 

Grant date 
2017 

Measurement 
date 

31 Dec. 2017 

Dividend yield (%) 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 

Expected volatility (%) 30.0% 30.0% 30.0% 30.0% 

Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.8% 2.6% 2.2% 2.2% 

Expected life of options (years) 7.3 years 4.7 years 7.5 years 4.9 years 

Exercise price (USD) 2,059 1,819 1,766 1,572 

Share price  
(redemption amount) (USD) 

2,059 2,030 1,986 1,951 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $745 (€651; 2017: $601, 
€501).  

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices of, and move-
ments in, share option schemes during the year:  
 
 Number of 

options 2018 
Weighted 
 average 

exercise price 
2018 in $ 

Number of 
options 2017 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
2017 in $ 

Balance at beginning of year 
(outstanding) 

1,580,842 1,572 1,381,077 1,063 

Granted during the year 289,778 2,059 1,096,875 1,766 

Lapsed during the year 134,856 1,738 0 0 

Exercised during the year 400,890 1,049 897,110 1,025 

Expired during the year 0 0 0 0 

Balance at end of year  
(outstanding) 

1,334,874 1,819 1,580,842 1,572 

Vested and exercisable at end of 
year 

52,000 1,491 360,000 1,000 

As of 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the liability relating to the share option schemes 
is $457.9m (€399.9m; 2017: $648.6m, €540.9m). As of 31 December 2018, options amounting to 
€22.6m (2017: €322.8m) are qualified as current and €377.3m (2017: €218.1m) as non-current.  

52,000 options have vested as of 31 December 2018 (2017: 360,000). The intrinsic value of liabili-
ties for vested options is $28.0m (€24.5m; 2017: $342.4m, €285.5m).  

The weighted-average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised in 2018 was 
$2,113 (2017: $1,921). 
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15,000 (2017: 445,000) options were settled in cash by payment of the net value of the options in 
the amount of $7,9m (2017: $396.6m), of which $0,7m (2017: $325.1m) were used for the invest-
ment into 328 redeemable shares (Ordinary Class B shares) (2017: 169,956). 385,890 
(2017: 452,110) options were exercised by payment of the strike price in cash for the issue of 
385,890 (2017: 452,110) redeemable shares (thereof no Special Class S shares (2017: 400,000) 
and 385,890 Ordinary Class B Shares (2017: 52,110)). JAB Group granted short-term facilities to 
finance the strike price of 22,890 options, which was paid back on the same day from the proceeds 
from redemption of shares. 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $1,363 to $2,121 
(2017: $1,000 to $2,010).  

The expense recognised for the period arising from the share-option schemes during the year was 
$236.9m (€200.6m; 2017: expense $669.8m, €592.9m). 

3.12 Borrowings 

 Long-term  Credit Facilities Total 
notes  Bank 

 Consortium 
in €m in €m in €m

Balance as of 31 December 2016 2,974.3 760.0 3,734.3

Additions / Repayments 1,480.4 -760.0 720.4
Amortisation disagio and fees 5.3 0.0 5.3

Balance as of 31 December 2017 4,460.0 0.0 4,460.0

Additions / Repayments 1,485.6 0.0 1,485.6
Amortisation disagio and fees 6.5 0.0 6.5

Balance as of 31 December 2018 5,952.1 0.0 5,952.1

thereof current liability 0.0 0.0 0.0
thereof non-current liability 5,952.1 0.0 5,952.1

 

In November 2014, JAB Group issued long-term notes (DE000A1ZSAF4) in the aggregate princi-
pal amount of €750.0m. The notes are traded on the EuroMTF Market, operated by the Luxem-
bourg Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2018, the carrying value of the notes is €747.0m 
(2017: €746.0m), with a maturity in November 2021. 

In April and September 2015, JAB Group issued further long-term notes in the aggregate principal 
amount of €600.0m (DE000A1Z0TA4) and €750.0m (DE000A1Z6C06). The notes are traded on 
the EuroMTF Market, operated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2018, the 
carrying value of the notes maturing in April 2025 is €593.4m (2017: €592.5m) and €744.2m 
(2017: €742.7m) for those maturing in September 2022. 
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In May 2016, JAB Group issued long-term notes in the aggregate principal amount of €750.0m 
(DE000A181034). In June 2016, the long-term notes were increased by €150.0m having the same 
terms as the original notes. The notes are traded on the EuroMTF Market, operated by the Lux-
embourg Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2018, the carrying value of the notes is €897.5m 
(2017: €897.0m), with a maturity in May 2023. 

In May 2017, JAB Group issued long-term notes in the aggregate principal amount of €750.0m 
(DE000A19HCW0) and €750.0m (DE000A19HCX8). The notes are traded on the EuroMTF Mar-
ket, operated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Thereof, notes with a carrying value of 
€743.5m (2017: €742.3m) are maturing in May 2024 and notes with a carrying value of €740.2m 
(2017: 739.5m) are maturing in May 2028. 

In June 2018, JAB Group issued long-term notes in the aggregate principal amount of €750.0m 
(DE000A1919G4) and €750.0m (DE000A1919H2). The notes are traded on the EuroMTF Market, 
operated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2018, thereof notes with a car-
rying value of €741.1m are maturing in June 2026 and notes with a carrying value of €745.2m are 
maturing in June 2029. 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group has no outstanding payable under its credit facilities 
(2017: €0m).  

Interest rates for fixed rate financial liabilities range from 1.25% to 2.5% p.a. (2017: 1.25% to 
2.125% p.a.). As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group has no floating rate financial liabilities.  

JAB Group enters into interest swap agreements to manage its interest rate risk exposures, includ-
ing exposures from potential transactions. The swap agreements do not qualify for hedge account-
ing. In 2013, JAB Holdings B.V. entered into interest rate swap agreements having total nominal 
amounts of €1,400.0m, with a maturity in June 2020. These agreements fix the interest rate expo-
sure of drawings under the credit facilities at approximately between 1.4% and 1.8% plus applica-
ble borrowing margins.  

3.13 Other liabilities 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
in €m in €m

Share-based transactions 399.9 540.9
Derivatives 38.0 57.1
Accrued interest and other bank fees 55.2 38.6
Trade and other payables 9.5 5.5

Total 502.6 642.1

Thereof current 123.6 422.9
Thereof non-current 379.0 219.2

 

An analysis of share-based transaction accrual and share-option schemes is provided in note 3.11. 

Other liabilities in the amount of €3.4m (2017: €0.0m) relate to a service agreement with JAB Hold-
ing Company LLC. 
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The liability from derivatives relates to the fair value of interest rate swap contracts. The fair value 
is determined based on the contract rates and the rate applied at the reporting date using a valua-
tion technique.  

Trade and other payables will be settled in short-term. 

3.14 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

The table below details changes in JAB Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which 
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in JAB Group’s statement of cash flows 
from financing activities. 

Foreign
31 Dec Financing exchange Change in Other 31 Dec

2017 cash flows movement fair value changes 2018
note in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Redeemable shares 3.10 1,493.0 -62.5 81.9 0.0 414.5 1,926.9
Long-term notes 3.12 4,460.0 1,485.6 0.0 0.0 6.5 5,952.1
Interest rate contracts 3.13 57.1 0.0 0.0 -19.8 0.0 37.3

6,010.1 1,423.1 81.9 -19.8 421.0 7,916.3

Non-cash changes

 

Foreign
31 Dec Financing exchange Change in Other 31 Dec

2016 cash flows movement fair value changes 2017
note in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Redeemable shares 3.10 810.2 258.0 -144.7 0.0 569.5 1,493.0
Credit facilities 3.12 760.0 -760.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Long-term notes 3.12 2,974.3 1,480.4 0.0 0.0 5.3 4,460.0
Interest rate contracts 3.13 79.9 0.0 0.0 -22.8 0.0 57.1

4,624.4 978.4 -144.7 -22.8 574.8 6,010.1

Non-cash changes

 

Other changes relating to redeemable shares include €58.9m (2017: €173.3m) change in redemp-
tion amount. 
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3.15 Net gain / (loss) on subsidiaries, other investments and short-term financial invest-
ments 

2018 2017
in €m in €m

Net gain / (loss) on subsidiaries
at FVTPL

Acorn Holdings B.V. 1,962.6 1,236.2
Pret Panera I G.P. 
(formerly: Beech I G.P.) 626.4 -89.8
Pret Panera III G.P. 44.1 0.0
Pret Parent Holding Inc. 2.2 0.0
KK G.P. -6.0 0.0
JAB Coffee Holding B.V. 0.7 0.8
JAB Luxury GmbH -10.7 263.7
JAB Beech Inc. 0.0 -195.3
Others 0.2 -0.3

Net gain / (loss) on other investments
at FVTPL

Coty Inc. -3,180.1 -191.4
Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. -322.0 -188.6
Others 1.0 -2.4

Net gain / (loss) on short-term financial
investments at FVTPL -1.4 0.0

Total -883.0 832.9
 

3.16 Dividend income 

In 2018, JAB Group recognised dividend income from the following investments measured at  
FVTPL: 

2018 2017
in €m in €m

Coty Inc. 125.3 122.6
Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. 56.3 106.9
Pret Panera I G.P. (formerly: Beech I G.P.) 25.9 19.7
Pret Panera III G.P. 11.9 0.0
KK G.P. 6.9 0.0
Acorn Holdings B.V. preferred dividend 45.3 6.9
JAB Beech Inc. 0.0 21.1

Total 271.6 277.2
 

In 2018, JAB Group also received €91.3m capital repayments from Acorn Holdings B.V. (see 
note 3.1). 
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3.17 Finance income and finance expenses 

Finance income can be detailed as follows: 

2018 2017
in €m in €m

Net foreign exchange gain 167.4 0.0
Interest income 11.5 6.2

Total 178.9 6.2
 

Finance expenses can be detailed as follows: 

2018 2017
in €m in €m

Interest expense on financial liabilities -127.6 -103.9
Valuation of interest rate contracts 19.9 22.8
Change in redemption amount
of redeemable shares -57.9 -170.6
Bank fees -8.2 -7.4
Net foreign exchange loss 0.0 -118.6
Other 0.0 -0.2

Total -173.8 -377.9
 

3.18 General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative expenses can be detailed as follows: 

2018 2017
in €m in €m

Service fees -234.1 -620.2
Legal, tax, audit and consultancy fees -4.0 -6.1
Salary and personnel related expenses -5.9 -2.3
Others -1.6 -1.2

Total -245.6 -629.8
 

Fees billed to the Company and its fully consolidated subsidiaries by KPMG Luxembourg, Société 
coopérative, and other member firms of the KPMG network during the year are as follows: Audit 
fees (annual accounts / consolidated accounts) amounting to €435k (2017: €296k) and audit-
related fees amounting to €190k (2017: €225k).  

Service and other fees include expenses for share-based payment transactions in the amount of 
€200.6m (2017: €592.9m) and fees charged by the related parties Donata Service GmbH, 
JAB Service GmbH, and JAB Holding Company LLC. 
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3.19 Taxes on income 

JAB Group has a net loss carry-forward amounting to approximately €989.0m (2017: €865.0m). 
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised, due to the uncertainty of the future taxable income. 

The reconciliation of the movement in the loss carry-forward can be detailed as follows: 

2018 2017
note in €m in €m

Accounting profit / (loss) 
for the period -852.2 107.5
Dividend income 3.16 -226.8 -277.2
Tax exempt (gain) / loss on 
on subsidiaries and other
investments 881.6 -832.9
Other adjustments 83.1 762.3

Taxable profit / (loss) for the period -114.3 -240.3

-865.0 -650.7
Adjustment due to translation

-9.7 26.0

Tax losses carry-forward as 
of 31 December -989.0 -865.0

differences

Tax losses carry-forward as of 1 January

3.15

 

Other adjustments mainly include changes in the value of redeemable shares in the amount of  
€57.9m (2017: €170.6m) and accrual for options in the amount of €200.6m (2017: €592.9m). 

2018 2017
in €m in €m

Withholding tax on dividends 
and finance income -0.3 -1.1

Income tax expense -0.3 -1.1
 

Dividends and finance income can be subject to withholding taxes. These dividends are tax ex-
empt under the Dutch participation exemption. Withholding taxes have been recognised as part of 
income tax expense, with dividend income recognised on a gross basis. 

3.20 Related parties  

3.20.1 Agnaten SE 

Agnaten SE, Vienna, is the majority shareholder and ultimate parent of JAB Holding Company 
S.à r.l. Agnaten SE has established the Company and is a party in the comprehensive agreement 
with Lucresca SE and the Advisory Committee.   
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3.20.2 Donata Holdings B.V. 

Donata Holdings B.V., Amsterdam, is a minority shareholder of JAB Holding Company S.à r.l. 

3.20.3 Lucresca SE and affiliated companies 

Lucresca SE, Vienna, is the shareholder of Donata Holdings B.V. Lucresca SE is a holding Com-
pany controlled closely by members of the family of the shareholders of Agnaten SE. Lucresca SE 
is a party in the comprehensive agreement with the Advisory Committee. 

3.20.4 JAB Consumer Fund 

JAB Consumer Fund was created to share the JAB investment strategy with professional and 
semi-professional investors.  

3.20.5 Benckiser Stiftung Zukunft 

The members of the “Stiftungsrat” of the Stiftung are appointed by the executive board of  
Agnaten SE or successor companies. The Stiftung has been set up to serve public interest. 

3.20.6 JAB Service GmbH 

This entity is a subsidiary of Donata Holdings B.V. 

3.20.7 Management 

JAB Group and its investments are managed by an Advisory Committee and further management 
including executives and senior managers of the Company and its affiliates (including JAB Holding 
Company LLC). The Company’s agreements with management comprise agreements on base 
remunerations, share-based payments, loans as well as management’s investment in the Compa-
ny. Expense for management’s compensation amount to €219.6m (2017: expense €603.1m), 
thereof €200.6m (2017: expense €592.9m) with regard to share-based payment transactions. The 
total interest income from loans to management amounts to €0.5m (2017: €1.5m). 

During the financial year, no loans, advances or guarantees were granted to members of the board 
of managers or other administrative bodies. 

3.20.8 Non-consolidated subsidiaries 

JAB Group holds 57.0% of Acorn Holdings B.V. This entity is direct shareholder of further interim 
holding companies and their investment in Jacobs Douwe Egberts Group, Keurig Dr Pepper Group 
and Peet’s Coffee Group. 

JAB Group indirectly holds an investment in Pret Panera Holding Company Group through a direct 
investment of 53.5% in Pret Panera I G.P. (formerly: Beech I G.P.) and 15.4% in Pret Panera III 
G.P. JAB Group controls Pret Panera III G.P. by virtue of agreements with its other shareholders. 
Therefore, the investment in Pret Panera III G.P. is presented as a subsidiary. 
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Pret Panera Holding Company Group is the direct shareholder of further interim holding compa-
nies and their investments in Pret A Manger Group, Panera Group, Caribou Coffee Group and 
Espresso House Group. In 2018, interest income from loans granted to intermediate holding com-
pany Pret Parent Holding Inc. amounts to €1.8m (2017: €0.0m). In 2017 interest income from a 
loan granted to intermediate holding company Rye Parent Holding Corp amounted to €1.9m. 

JAB Group directly holds approximately 48.8% in KK G.P. The entity is direct shareholder of fur-
ther holding companies and their investment in Krispy Kreme Doughnuts Inc. JAB Group controls 
KK G.P. by virtue of agreements with its other shareholders. Therefore, the investment in KK G.P. 
is presented as a subsidiary. 

JAB Group is the sole owner of JAB Luxury GmbH, Caslano. JAB Luxury GmbH is the holding 
company of the luxury goods company Bally International AG. The total interest income from 
JAB Luxury GmbH amounts to €0.3m (2017: €1.4m). JAB Group has the intention to dispose of its 
investment in Labelux Group GmbH and therefore classified the shares as assets held for sale. 

Some portfolio companies have debt like/borrowing arrangements which might lead to limitations 
of dividend distributions. 

3.20.9 Non-consolidated associates 

JAB Group holds 40.1% of Coty Inc. and 0.7% of Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. 

3.20.10 Employees 

During the year JAB Group had two Managing Directors who received salaries of in total €0.3m 
(2017: €1.2m). JAB Group had on average seven employees in 2018 (2017: eight employees). 

3.21 Contingent liabilities 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group provides no material guarantees for third parties. 

4. Financial instruments – Fair Value and Risk Management 

4.1 Capital Management 

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The board of managers to-
gether with the Advisory Committee monitors the return on capital and the value enhancement of 
JAB Group’s investments. 

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with 
higher levels of borrowings and the advantage and security afforded by a sound capital position.  

As of 31 December 2018, equity amounts to €15,255.9m (2017: €16,149.1m) and liabilities amount 
to €8,381.6m (2017: €6,595.1m). 
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4.2 Financial instruments and fair value hierarchy 

JAB Group classified its financial instruments by category as set out below:  

Amortised FVTPL Total Amortised FVTPL Total
cost cost

in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Assets as per 

Subsidiaries 0.0 19,061.0 19,061.0 0.0 13,198.3 13,198.3

Other investments 0.0 2,095.0 2,095.0 0.0 7,559.7 7,559.7

Corporate debt securities 0.0 852.2 852.2 0.0 852.2 852.2

Loans 34.0 0.0 34.0 54.2 0.0 54.2

Other Receivables 12.9 0.8 13.7 14.2 1.1 15.3

Short-term financial

investments 0.0 82.3 82.3 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cash and 

cash equivalents 1,094.6 0.0 1,094.6 674.7 0.0 674.7

Non-current assets 

held-for-sale 0.0 404.7 404.7 0.0 389.8 389.8

Total 1,141.5 22,496.0 23,637.5 743.1 22,001.1 22,744.2

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

statement of financial position

  

Amortised FVTPL Redeem- Total Amortised FVTPL Redeem- Total
cost able cost able

shares shares
in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Liabilities as per 

Borrowings 5,952.1 0.0 0.0 5,952.1 4,460.0 0.0 0.0 4,460.0
Redeemable shares 0.0 0.0 1,926.9 1,926.9 0.0 0.0 1,493.0 1,493.0
Other liabilities 64.7 38.0 0.0 102.7 44.0 57.1 0.0 101.1

Total 6,016.8 38.0 1,926.9 7,981.7 4,504.0 57.1 1,493.0 6,054.1

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

statement of financial position

 

The redeemable shares are carried at amortised cost which corresponds to the redemption 
amount that would be payable at the reporting date if the holder would put the shares at this date. 
Since the redemption amount is calculated on the basis of JAB Group’s direct and indirect invest-
ments the redeemable shares are presented separately from the other financial liabilities at amor-
tised cost. 

Cash and cash equivalents as well as other receivables are subject to the impairment require-
ments of IFRS 9. As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, cash and cash equivalents 
were placed with quality financial institutions and could be withdrawn on short notice. Therefore, 
the expected credit loss on cash and cash equivalents and other receivables was immaterial, as 
well as the identified impairment loss for the other receivables subject to the expected credit loss 
model. 
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JAB Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation technique: 

Financial instruments in Level 1 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place 
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

Financial instruments in Level 2 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by us-
ing valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data 
where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs 
required to determine fair value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Lev-
el 2. 

Financial instruments in Level 3 

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in Level 3.  

The following table analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation technique. It 
does not include fair value information of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value. 
The issued long-term notes have a carrying amount of €5,952.1m (2017: €4,460.0m), the fair value 
is €6,089.4m (2017: €4,695.0m) based on dealer-quotes (Level 2). For all other financial assets 
and liabilities, the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximate of fair values.  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
in €m in €m in €m in €m

Financial assets at FVTPL
Subsidiaries and other investments

Listed equity investments 2,060.1 0.0 0.0 2,060.1
Unlisted equity investments 0.0 0.0 19,095.9 19,095.9

Non-current assets held-for-sale
Unlisted equity investments 0.0 0.0 404.7 404.7

Corporate debt securities 0.0 0.0 852.2 852.2

Other receivables 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.8

Short-term financial investments 0.0 82.3 0.0 82.3

Total financial assets 2,060.1 83.1 20,352.9 22,496.1

Financial Liabilities at FVTPL
Interest rate contracts 0.0 37.2 0.0 37.2
Foreign exchange contracts 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.8

Total financial liabilities 0.0 38.0 0.0 38.0

31 December 2018
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
in €m in €m in €m in €m

Financial assets at FVTPL
Subsidiaries and other investments

Listed equity investments 7,543.0 0.0 0.0 7,543.0
Unlisted equity investments 0.0 0.0 13,215.0 13,215.0

Non-current assets held-for-sale
Unlisted equity investments 0.0 0.0 389.8 389.8

Corporate debt securities 0.0 0.0 852.2 852.2

Foreign exchange contracts 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1

Total financial assets 7,543.0 1.1 14,457.0 22,001.1

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Interest rate contracts 0.0 57.1 0.0 57.1

Total financial liabilities 0.0 57.1 0.0 57.1

31 December 2017

 

There were no transfers between the levels for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017. 

The following tables show a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial instru-
ments categorised within Level 3 between the beginning and the end of the reporting period. 

Subsidiaries Other Corporate Non-current
investments debt assets

securities held-for-sale
Unlisted Unlisted Preferred Unlisted

equity  equity shares equity 
in €m in €m in €m in €m

Balance as of 31 December 2016 11,697.2 19.0 0.0 0.0

Additions 1,475.5 0.0 852.2 138.2
Disposals -155.0 0.0 0.0 -783.1
Change in fair value 991.6 -2.3 0.0 223.7
Reclassification to non-current
assets held-for-sale -811.0 0.0 0.0 811.0

Balance as of 31 December 2017 13,198.3 16.7 852.2 389.8

Additions 3,394.7 17.2 0.0 25.6
Disposals -162.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
Change in fair value 2,630.2 1.0 0.0 -10.7

Balance as of 31 December 2018 19,061.0 34.9 852.2 404.7
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Level 3 valuation techniques of equity investments are appropriate in the circumstance and reflect 
recent transactions and market multiples. 

Cash and cash equivalents, loans receivable, loans payable and other assets and liabilities, except 
for derivative financial instruments, were valued at amortised cost which are a reasonable approx-
imate of fair values. 

Subsidiaries categorised in Level 3 

JAB Group’s investments include equity participations in Acorn Holdings B.V., JAB Luxury GmbH., 
Pret Panera I G.P., Pret Panera III G.P and KK G.P, which are not quoted in active markets. 
JAB Group uses a market-based valuation technique or, if appropriate, third-party transactions (at-
arm’s length) for measuring its investments. 

The valuation models were based on market multiples derived from quoted prices of comparable 
public companies based on industry, size, leverage and strategy.  

The following details show the valuation techniques in measuring Level 3 fair values, as well as the 
unobservable inputs used, for JAB Group’s equity investments: 

Acorn Holdings B.V. 

JAB Group holds 57.0% of Acorn Holdings B.V. Acorn Holdings B.V. is direct shareholder of fur-
ther interim holding companies and their investments in Keurig Dr Pepper Group (KDP), Jacob 
Douwe Egberts Group (JDE), and Peet’s Coffee Group. 

As of 31 December 2017, Acorn Holdings B.V. was the direct shareholder of further interim holding 
companies and their investments in Keurig Green Mountain Group (KGM) and JDE. In July 2018, 
the merger between Acorn Holding B.V.’s investment in KGM and Dr Pepper Snapple Group Inc. 
was completed, creating KDP. In December 2018, the investment in Peet’s Coffee Group (formerly 
held through Beech I G.P.) was contributed to Acorn Holdings B.V.  

Acorn Holding B.V.’s investments were valued as follows: 

- As of 31 December 2018, KDP is a listed company (New York Stock Exchange). The 
shares in KDP were valued based on the quoted market price at the reporting date.  

- As of 31 December 2017, KGM fair value was calculated applying multiples that were de-
rived from selected publicly listed companies with 50% EBITDA and 50% P/E multiple 
weighting. The following LTM multiples were used for the 2017 valuation of KGM: EBITDA 
multiple of 15.2x and P/E multiple of 23.8x.  

- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, JDE fair value was calculated applying 
multiples that were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 50% EBITDA and 
50% P/E multiple weighting. The following LTM multiples were used for the valuation of 
JDE: EBITDA multiple of 14.0x (2017: 15.2x) and P/E multiple of 20.9x (2017: 23.8x).  

- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, Peet’s Coffee Group’s fair value was 
calculated applying multiples that were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 
40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% Sales multiple weighting. The following LTM multiples 
were used for the valuation of Peet’s Coffee Group: EBITDA multiple of 15.7x (2017:  
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16.8x), P/E multiple of 24.6x (2017: 28.3x) and Sales multiple of 3.3x (2017: 4.0x). Peet’s 
Coffee Group was held through Beech I G.P. as of 31 December 2017. 

- The multiples applied to the LTM figures ending December 2018 and 2017 are the median 
of the LTM multiples of these comparable publicly listed companies. In addition, adjust-
ments between the enterprise value and the equity value were made for financial debt, and, 
where relevant, for minorities and financial assets. 

In 2017, JAB Group entered into agreements regarding its investment in Acorn Holdings B.V. with 
certain non-controlling shareholders in this company. Under these agreements certain subsidiaries 
of JAB Holdings B.V. may be obliged to purchase such person’s ordinary shares in Acorn Hold-
ings B.V., conditional on the occurrence of Acorn Holdings B.V.’s engagement in certain business  
activities. Since JAB Group controls Acorn Holdings B.V., this contingent obligation is under 
JAB Group’s control. Acorn Holdings B.V. has not engaged in such business activities as of 
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018. In the event certain subsidiaries of JAB Holdings B.V. 
are required to purchase the ordinary shares of any such non-controlling shareholder of Acorn 
Holdings B.V., then JAB Group may be obliged to subscribe for ordinary shares. JAB Group quali-
fied these contingent payment obligations as financial instruments. As of 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017, the financial instruments fair value is measured close to 0 since the probability 
of the cash-outflow upon this agreement is estimated to be remote. 

Pret Panera I G.P. and Pret Panera III G.P. 

JAB Group is invested in Pret Panera Holding Company Group through a 53.5% investment in 
Pret Panera I G.P. and a 15.4% investment in Pret Panera III G.P. Pret Panera Holding Company 
Group is the direct shareholder of further interim holding companies and their investments in Pret 
A Manger Group, Panera Group, Caribou Coffee Group and Espresso House Group. 

As of 31 December 2018, the shares in Pret Panera I G.P. and Pret Panera III G.P. were valued at 
€3,353.8m. Pret Panera I G.P.’s and Pret Panera III G.P.’s fair value was calculated as the net 
asset value of their different investments. These investments were valued as follows: 

- The investment in Pret A Manger Group occurred in the second half of 2018. As of 31 De-
cember 2018, management assessed the original acquisition cost to be the best fair value 
estimate.  

- As of 31 December 2018, Panera Group’s fair value were calculated applying multiples that 
were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% 
Sales multiple weighting. The investment in Panera Group occurred in the second half of 
2017. As of 31 December 2017, management assessed the original acquisition cost to be 
the best fair value estimate.  

- For Panera Group the following LTM multiples were used for the valuation: EBITDA multi-
ple of 17.3x, P/E multiple of 25.0x and Sales multiple of 2.9x.  

- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, Caribou Coffee Group’s and Espresso 
House Group’s fair value were calculated applying multiples that were derived from select-
ed publicly listed companies with 40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% Sales multiple 
weighting.  

- For Caribou Coffee Group the following LTM multiples were used for the valuation: EBITDA 
multiple of 16.1x (2017: 15.8x), P/E multiple of 25.0x (2017: 28.1x) and Sales multiple of 
1.8x (2017: 1.5x).  
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- For Espresso House Group the following LTM multiples were used for the valuation: 
EBITDA multiple of 17.8x (2017: 16.3x), P/E multiple of 25.5x (2017: 25.5x) and Sales mul-
tiple of 2.5x (2017: 2.5x). Espresso House Group was held through JAB Coffee Holding 
B.V. as of 31 December 2017. 

- The multiples applied to the LTM figures ending December 2018 and 2017 are the median 
of the LTM multiples of the peer group consisting of comparable publicly listed companies. 
In addition, adjustments between the enterprise value and the equity value were made for 
financial debt, and, where relevant, for minorities and financial assets. 

In 2018, JAB Group entered into an agreement with Pret Panera I GP, Pret Panera Holding Com-
pany Inc. and certain other persons that hold direct or indirect non-controlling interests in Pret 
Panera Holding Company Inc. Under this agreement, certain of these non-controlling shareholders 
can request an IPO of Pret Panera Holding Company Inc. after April 1st, 2023. Upon such request, 
Pret Panera Holding Company Inc., at its option, may purchase such person’s interest at a pur-
chase price equal to the fair market value determined close to the acquisition date. If such IPO is 
not completed within 13 months, JAB Group may be obliged to purchase such person’s interest at 
a purchase price equal to the fair market value determined close to the acquisition date. JAB 
Group has qualified the contingent obligation to purchase such person’s interest as a financial in-
strument. Its fair value is 0, since it is exercisable at the fair value of the underlying item. 

KK G.P. 

JAB Group is invested in Krispy Kreme Group through a 48.8% investment in KK G.P.  

As of 31 December 2018, the shares in KK G.P. were valued at €654.8m. KK G.P.’s investment 
was valued as follows: 

- As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, Krispy Kreme Group’s fair value were 
calculated applying multiples that were derived from selected publicly listed companies with 
40% EBITDA, 40% P/E and 20% Sales multiple weighting.  

- The following LTM multiples were used for the valuation of Krispy Kreme Group’s: EBITDA 
multiple of 16.9x (2017: 16.7x), P/E multiple of 24.4x (2017: 28.3x) and Sales multiple of 
3.2x (2017: 3.2x). Krispy Kreme Group was held through Beech I G.P. as of 31 December 
2017. 

- The multiples applied to the LTM figures ending December 2018 and 2017 are the median 
of the LTM multiples of the peer group consisting of comparable publicly listed companies. 
In addition, adjustments between the enterprise value and the equity value were made for 
financial debt, and, where relevant, for minorities and financial assets. 

In 2018, JAB Group entered into an agreement with KK GP, Krispy Kreme Holdco Inc. and certain 
other persons that hold direct or indirect non-controlling interests in Krispy Kreme Holdco Inc. Un-
der this agreement, certain of these non-controlling shareholders can request an IPO of Krispy 
Kreme Holdco Inc. after April 1st, 2023. Upon such request, Krispy Kreme Holdco Inc, at its option, 
may purchase such person’s interest at a purchase price equal to the fair market value determined 
close to the acquisition date. If such IPO is not completed within 13 months, JAB Group may be 
obliged to purchase such person’s interest at a purchase price equal to the fair market value de-
termined close to the acquisition date. JAB Group has qualified the contingent obligation to pur-
chase such person’s interest as a financial instrument. Its fair value is 0, since it is exercisable at 
the fair value of the underlying item.  
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JAB Luxury GmbH 

JAB Group is the sole owner of JAB Luxury GmbH, Switzerland. This entity is a shareholder of the 
luxury goods company Bally International AG (Bally). JAB Group has the intention to dispose of its 
investment in Labelux Group GmbH and therefore classified the shares as assets held for sale. 

As of 31 December 2018, the shares in JAB Luxury GmbH, Switzerland were valued at €404.7m.  

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the investment’s fair value was based on the 
value per share of an at-arms’ length transaction in Bally International AG shares in February 
2018. 

Corporate debt securities Acorn Holdings B.V.  

JAB Group holds preferred shares in Acorn Holdings B.V. 

As of 31 December 2018, the preferred shares were valued at €852.2m. 

The management assessed the original acquisition cost of the preferred shares to be the best fair 
value estimate.  

Sensitivity to unobservable inputs 

Changes in the valuation methodologies or assumptions could lead to different measurements of 
fair value. The most significant unobservable inputs are the applied multiples. The estimated fair 
value would increase (decrease) if the adjusted market multiples were higher (lower). A change of 
the applied multiples by 10% would change the fair value estimate in the amount of €1,082.2m 
(2017: €1,337.7m). As of 31 December 2018, the sensitivity to unobservable inputs comprises the 
investment in Acorn Holdings B.V., Pret Panera I G.P., Pret Panera III G.P, KK G.P (2017: Acorn 
Holdings B.V., Beech I G.P., JAB Coffee Holding B.V.). 

Redeemable shares 

The Company recorded its issued shares containing put features as liability at the potential re-
demption amount (€1,926.9m; 2017: €1,493.0m), which is based on valuation rules that have been 
contractually agreed with the shareholders. 
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4.3 Overview of financial risk factors 

JAB Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

- credit risk; 
- liquidity risk; 
- market risk. 

Moreover, JAB Group is subject to inherent risks due to its investment activities. The value devel-
opment of the investments depends on various external and internal factors which also might lead 
to negative variances from the expected developments.  

Information is presented about JAB Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, JAB Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and JAB Group’s manage-
ment of capital. 

The board of managers has ultimate responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
JAB Group's risk management framework but has delegated the responsibility for identifying and 
controlling risks to JAB Group’s operative management. 

JAB Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 
JAB Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market condi-
tions and JAB Group's activities. The risk management system is an ongoing process of identifica-
tion, measurement, monitoring and controlling risks. JAB Group, through its management stand-
ards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which 
all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

4.4 Concentration risk 

As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group’s holding in Acorn Holdings B.V. represented 63.7% 
(2017: Coty Inc., Acorn Holdings B.V. and Beech I G.P. 78.2%) of the gross asset value of 
JAB Group’s assets. Other assets such as Pret Panera I G.P., Pret Panera III G.P., KK G.P., Coty 
Inc., Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. and JAB Luxury GmbH, represented 36.3% (2017: Reckitt 
Benckiser Group Plc., JAB Luxury GmbH, JAB Coffee Holding B.V. 21.8%) of the gross asset val-
ue of JAB Group’s assets. Hence, there is a concentration risk within the portfolio whereby a loss 
affecting a single investment may have a significant negative impact on the overall performance of 
JAB Group. 

4.5 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to JAB Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from JAB Group's investment in debt secu-
rities, loans receivable, other receivables, derivatives and cash and cash equivalents.  

Debt securities 
The Group is subject to credit risk on its investments in debt securities. The credit risk relating to 
these assets is reflected through the measurement at FVTPL. 
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Loans receivable and other receivables 
JAB Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
counterparty. Risk is limited by JAB Group’s policy on dealing only with creditworthy counterparties 
and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial 
loss from default. As all major counterparties are related parties the risk is limited. 

Cash at bank 
JAB Group's cash is placed with quality rating financial institutions, such that management does 
not expect these institutions to fail to meet repayments of amounts held in the name of JAB Group. 

Derivatives 
JAB Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited, as the counterparties are banks with excellent credit 
ratings by international rating agencies; furthermore, netting arrangements are concluded.  

Guarantees 
JAB Group's policy generally is to avoid providing financial guarantees for third parties.  

Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The table below 
contains the carrying amounts and their due dates as of 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017. 

Due Less than 1 to 5 More than Total
1 year  years 5 years

31 December 2018 note in €m in €m in €m in €m

Loans 3.4 0.0 34.0 0.0 0.0 34.0
Other assets 3.5 0.0 11.0 2.7 0.0 13.7
Short-term financial
investments 3.6 0.0 0.0 1.3 81.0 82.3
Cash and cash equivalents 3.7 869.6 225.0 0.0 0.0 1,094.6

869.6 270.0 4.0 81.0 1,224.6

Due Less than 1 to 5 More than Total
1 year  years 5 years

31 December 2017 note in €m in €m in €m in €m

Loans 3.4 0.0 54.2 0.0 0.0 54.2
Other assets 3.5 0.0 11.5 3.8 0.0 15.3
Cash and cash equivalents 3.7 574.7 100.0 0.0 0.0 674.7

574.7 165.7 3.8 0.0 744.2

 

In respect of the financial assets shown, no impairments were recognised and no financial assets 
were past due as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.  
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4.6 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that JAB Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. JAB Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to JAB Group's reputation. 

JAB Group’s strategy as well as the management’s approach in managing liquidity risk is to ensure 
sufficient cash on demand, including cash from related parties. The management monitors the 
planning of liquidity reserves and cash flows and coordinates the due dates of financial assets and 
liabilities. As of 31 December 2018, JAB Group has unused credit facilities, which reduce liquidity 
risk. 

JAB Group’s borrowing agreements with banks are subject to financial covenants. The covenants 
are monitored regularly and reported to the management to ensure compliance with the agree-
ments. As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, all covenants were complied with. 

The table below contains the due dates of the carrying amounts as of 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017. 

due Less than 1 to 5 More than Total
1 year years 5 years

31 December 2018 note in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Non-derivative liabilities
Borrowings 3.12 0.0 0.0 2,388.7 3,563.4 5,952.1
Redeemable shares 3.10 0.0 1,926.9 0.0 0.0 1,926.9
Other liabilities 3.13 0.0 64.7 0.0 0.0 64.7

0.0 1,991.6 2,388.7 3,563.4 7,943.7

Derivatives 3.13 0.0 38.0 0.0 0.0 38.0
 

due Less than 1 to 5 More than Total
1 year  years  5 years

31 December 2017 note in €m in €m in €m in €m in €m

Non-derivative liabilities
Borrowings 3.12 0.0 0.0 1,488.7 2,971.3 4,460.0
Redeemable shares 3.10 0.0 1,493.0 0.0 0.0 1,493.0
Other liabilities 3.13 0.0 44.0 0.0 0.0 44.0

0.0 1,537.0 1,488.7 2,971.3 5,997.0

Derivatives 3.13 0.0 57.1 0.0 0.0 57.1
 

Derivatives are presented with their fair value. The liquidity risk of derivatives might be subject to 
short-term and significant changes due to the high volatility of the fair values. Information on the 
maturity of the derivatives is presented under note 4.7.   
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4.7 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity prices will affect JAB Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instru-
ments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

JAB Group buys and sells derivatives, and also incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage mar-
ket risks. Hedge accounting is not applied. 

Foreign exchange risks 

JAB Group invests in financial instruments and enters transactions that are denominated in cur-
rencies other than its functional currency, primarily in USD and GBP. Consequently, JAB Group is 
exposed to the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates may have a favourable or unfavourable 
effect on the fair values of its financial instruments and the fair values of its future cash flows.  

Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward ex-
change contracts. JAB Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buy-
ing or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary to address short-term imbalances.  

JAB Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts: 

in £m in $m in £m in $m

Loans 0.0 38.9 0.0 65.0
Other receivables 0.0 8.1 0.0 7.2
Short-term financial investments 0.0 90.2 0.0 0.0
Cash and cash equivalents 86.5 335.7 6.6 82.9
Other current liabilities 0.0 -0.3 0.0 0.0

Gross balance sheet exposure 86.5 472.6 6.6 155.1

Forward exchange contracts 0.0 -20.6 -20.0 0.0

Net exposure 86.5 452.0 -13.4 155.1

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

 

The USD forward exchange contracts expire in March 2019 ($20.6m). 

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year: 

Average Average Year-end Year-end
rate rate rate rate

2018 2017 2018 2017
1 Euro 1 Euro 1 Euro 1 Euro

USD 1.18 1.13 1.15 1.20
GBP 0.88 0.88 0.89 0.89
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Sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined on JAB Group’s exposure to currency risk 
for both, derivative and non-derivative, financial instruments at the end of the reporting period. 
A 10 % increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 
change in foreign exchange rates. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.  

A 10 % strengthening (weakening) of the Euro against the USD at 31 December would have de-
creased (increased) profit or loss by €39.5m (2017: €12.9m). A strengthening (weakening) of the 
Euro against the USD at reporting date would not have affected other comprehensive income.  

A 10 % strengthening (weakening) of the Euro against the GBP at 31 December would have in-
creased (decreased) profit or loss by €9.7m (2017: €7.5m). A strengthening (weakening) of the 
Euro against the GBP at reporting date would not have affected other comprehensive income.  

Exposure to interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluc-
tuate because of changes in market interest rates. Financial assets and liabilities exposed to inter-
est rate risk include loans receivable and other receivables, derivative financial instruments, bor-
rowings and cash and bank balances. 

JAB Group adopts a policy of ensuring that its exposure to changes in interest rates on borrow-
ings, including exposures from potential transactions is limited. Interest rate risk exposure is man-
aged by JAB Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate financial 
instruments and, if considered appropriate, by the use of interest rate swap contracts or other in-
terest rate derivatives. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views 
and JAB Group’s investment and risk policies. At the reporting date JAB Group has interest rate 
swap agreements with a notional value of €1,400.0m (2017: €1,400.0m).  

Profile  

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of JAB Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments 
was: 

Carrying amount Carrying amount
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

in €m in €m
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 1,170.2 728.9
Borrowings -5,952.1 -4,460.0

Floating rate instruments
Financial assets 40.7 0.0
Borrowings 0.0 0.0

 

Fixed rate financial assets include cash and cash equivalents. Derivative financial instruments are 
not included in the table above.  

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined on JAB Group’s exposure to interest rates 
for financial instruments at the end of the reporting period. For the variable rate instruments, the 
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analyses are prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents man-
agement’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

JAB Group has fixed rate financial assets (interest rate swaps) at FVTPL. JAB Group does not 
designate these derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge 
accounting model. A decrease of 50 basis points in the market interest rate at the reporting date 
would have resulted in an additional loss of approximately €10.6m (2017: €17.8m loss). This anal-
ysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant. Other 
comprehensive income would not have changed.  

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments 

An increase of 50 basis points in the market interest rate during 2018 would have resulted in an 
additional loss of approximately €0.2m (2017: loss €0.0m) with regard to floating rate instruments. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain con-
stant. Other comprehensive income would not have changed. 

Exposure to other price risk 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluc-
tuate as a result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or cur-
rency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instru-
ment, its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 

JAB Group’s exposure to changes in share prices of its investments was as follows: 

Carrying amount Carrying amount
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

in €m in €m
Investments   
Coty Inc. 1,724.0 4,743.4
Reckitt Benckiser Group Plc. 336.1 2,799.6

Total 2,060.1 7,543.0
 

Sensitivity analysis – equity price risk 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined on the exposure to equity price risks at the 
end of the reporting period. 

If share prices had been 5% higher/lower, profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have 
increased/decreased by €103.0m as a result of changes in the fair value of these investments 
(2017: €377.2m). Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have 
been unaffected. 

There are no further significant assets or liabilities that could be exposed to material market risks. 
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5. Subsequent Events 

In January 2019, JAB Group has made $115m distributions to its shareholders. 

In February 2019, JAB Group announced commencement of a partial tender offer to acquire up to 
150m additional shares of Coty Inc. Class A common stock at a price per share of $11.65 in cash. 
The Offer is subject to certain conditions, including that the independent directors of Coty Inc.  
approve the offer and recommend that the Coty shareholders accept the offer. The new Coty 
shares would be held by a newly established subsidiary of JAB Group (Cottage Hold Co B.V.). 
JAB Group would contribute all existing Coty shares to this entity. The acquisition of new shares is 
expected to be financed by bank facilities at Cottage Hold Co B.V. with no cash contribution or 
recourse of JAB Group. 

In February 2019, it was announced that JAB Group together with JAB Consumer Fund will ac-
quire Compassion-First Pet Hospitals, a family of well-known and respected specialty, emergency 
and general practice veterinary hospitals across the United States, based on a total enterprise 
valuation of approximately $1.2bn. The total equity contribution required to consummate the trans-
action will be finally allocated to JAB Group, JAB Consumer Fund, other investors and standalone 
debt. JAB Group is expected to make an equity contribution of not more than €0.3bn. 

 

Luxembourg, 11 March 2019 

Managing Directors: 
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